# The Toxicity of (Nano)Microplastics on *C. elegans* and Its Mechanisms



# Jiani Hu, Xinyu Li, Lili Lei, Chenjing Cao, Dayong Wang, and Defu He

#### Contents

1	Introduction	260
	1.1 Nanoplastics	260
	1.2 Toxicology of Nanoplastics	261
	1.3 Caenorhabditis elegans	262
2	Toxicities of (Nano)Microplastics in <i>C. elegans</i>	263
	2.1 Developmental and Reproductive Toxicity	263
	2.2 Behavioral and Neural Toxicity	265
	2.3 Intestine Damages	268
	2.4 Oxidative Stress	268
3	Mechanisms of (Nano)Microplastics' Toxicities in C. elegans	270
	3.1 The Insulin Signaling Pathway	270
	3.2 The Protective Response Mediated by the Intestinal p38 Signaling	271
	3.3 Other Mechanisms	272
4	Summary	273
Re	ferences	274

**Abstract** Microplastics (MPs) and nanoplastics (NPs) are respectively defined as plastic debris with sizes of <5 mm and <100 nm. In recent years, (nano)microplastics (N/MPs) have been widely detected in air, water, soil, and other environmental matrices. Despite knowledge gap of the risks of N/MPs, more and more researchers pay attention to the adverse effects of this type of fine plastic items on biota. *Caenorhabditis elegans* (*C. elegans*) is an ideal model organism for toxicology study on N/MPs. In this chapter, we have reviewed research progress in the toxicity of N/MPs and its mechanism basing on this model. At the individual level, N/MPs can cause lethality on nematodes and the inhibition of growth and reproduction.

J. Hu, X. Li, L. Lei, C. Cao, and D. He (🖂)

School of Ecological and Environmental Sciences, Shanghai Key Laboratory for Urban Ecological Processes and Eco-Restoration, East China Normal University, Shanghai, China e-mail: dfhe@des.ecnu.edu.cn

D. Wang Medical School, Southeast University, Nanjing, China

Defu He and Yongming Luo (eds.), *Microplastics in Terrestrial Environments - Emerging Contaminants and Major Challenges*, Hdb Env Chem (2020) 95: 259–278, DOI 10.1007/698\_2020\_452, © Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020, Published online: 8 March 2020

The alteration of locomotion behavior has been demonstrated in nematodes after N/MPs exposure. Moreover, the behavioral toxicity was revealed to be involved in the especial neurotoxicity, including damages of GABAergic and cholinergic neurons. In addition, intestine damages and oxidative stress were found in nematodes exposed to N/MPs. Several studies proved that the N/MPs-induced effects might be closely dependent on the size and dose of N/MPs. Recent studies showed that the toxicity of N/MPs was mediated by the insulin signaling pathway and p38 signaling; the intestinal signaling cascade of PMK-1-ATF-7-XBP-1 and PMK-1-SKN-1-XBP-1/GST-5 could regulate the responses to nanopolystyrene particles in nematodes. Although the toxicity of N/MPs has been largely investigated basing on *C. elegans*, the toxic mechanisms are still unclear. Moreover, current studies are most relying on a special type of pure polystyrene sphere, which might not be the representative of all N/MPs types. Therefore, more researches on environmental (nano)microplastics with different chemical compositions and shapes need to be done in the future.

Keywords *Caenorhabditis elegans*, Microplastics, Nanoplastics, Polystyrene, Toxicity

#### 1 Introduction

#### 1.1 Nanoplastics

Microplastics (MPs) are usually considered as plastic debris with sizes below 5 mm, which has reached a consensus among researchers. Similarly, nanoplastics (NPs) are referred to smaller debris with the size between 1 and 100 nm, which is consistent with the European Commission nanomaterials definition [1, 2]. Despite some scholars suggested to set the upper limit of the size of NPs as 1  $\mu$ m [3–6], NPs were commonly regarded as in the size of smaller than 100 nm. The sources of NPs can be mainly divided into two categories. Primary NPs are mostly stemmed from industrial plastic products including ink of 3D printers, cosmetic products used for skin exfoliators, and synthetic fibers from clothes [4, 7, 8]. In addition, the breakdown of larger debris results in secondary NPs. The fragmentation of larger plastics may be attributed to both abiotic processes such as UV radiation, thermooxidation, and mechanical crushing and biotic driving processes including microbiological activity, animal digestion, etc. [9–12]. For example, *Antarctic krill* were proved to ingest MPs (31.5  $\mu$ m) and break them into NPs in the size of less than 1  $\mu$ m [13].

Due to small sizes, NPs in environments cannot be accurately quantified. It is lack of effective methods for extracting, counting, and identifying NPs [14–17]. There is also no uniform standard method for sampling and analyzing NPs [18]. Some researchers have predicted that the environmentally relevant concentration of NPs is  $\leq 1 \ \mu g \ L^{-1}$  in freshwater environments [19], yet it needs further support of experimental evidence. Considering the fragmentation process in their formation, NPs have variable presence of their morphology and types in environmental compartments including water, air, soil, and sediment. Up to date, there is limited knowledge about the fate and potential toxicity of NPs [14, 20].

# 1.2 Toxicology of Nanoplastics

Previous studies about the toxicity of NPs are mostly based on nanoscale-sized polystyrene (PS); yet commonly used types of plastic such as polypropylene (PP), polyethylene (PE), and polyvinyl chloride (PVC) have rarely been investigated. It is mostly due to available PS products from commercial corporations [21]. Additionally, PS can technically produce into nanobeads; however, it is difficult for other types of plastics. According to a recent study, LC50 of PS-NPs on *D. pulex* was 76.69 mg  $L^{-1}$  for 48 h exposure; PS-NPs would induce obvious inhibitions on animal growth and reproduction. In addition, a significant increase in the expression of HSP70 was demonstrated, which means the exposure of PS-NPs could cross cell membranes and cause tissue damages of zebra fish under conditions of laboratory exposure; however there is no considerable toxicity under natural conditions after exposure to environmentally relevant concentration of NPs [23].

Both MPs and NPs can be ingested by organisms and exert toxic effects. Some researchers have compared the potential effects between MPs and NPs and found size-dependent toxicity of N/MPs. For example, Sjollema et al. exposed three sizes, i.e., 50 nm, 500 nm, and 6 µm, of PS-M/NPs to Dunaliella tertiolecta. They found that smaller-sized NPs caused serious adverse effects including microalgal photosynthesis and the growth of *Dunaliella tertiolecta* [24]. Additionally, the toxicity of N/MPs may be related to size-dependent ingestion by different organisms. For example, 1–100 µm MPs can be ingested by the isopod *Idotea emarginata* [25]; while MPs with sizes of  $11-700 \,\mu\text{m}$  MPs could be easily taken in by the marine amphipod, Allorchestes compressa [26]. Nevertheless, PS-NPs particles in sizes of about 1 µm can be easily taken in and accumulated in the digestive system of nematodes [27]. It is generally speculated that smaller-sized particles would be more toxic than larger-sized particles because of their larger specific surface area [28]. But there are still arguments of size-dependent toxicity of N/MPs among different research groups. For example, Lu et al. reported that 5 µm MPs induced higher activities of SOD and CAT than 70 nm NPs [29].

Actually, environmental N/MPs usually contain not only additives but also other contaminants, such as organic chemicals and inorganic salts. For instance, Besseling et al. analyzed PCB concentrations on PS-NPs after joint exposure to *Arenicola* 

*marina* and found bioaccumulations of PCBs companying with the increasing toxicity such as the loss of animal weight [30]. Another study showed that PE (10–106  $\mu$ m) MPs were ingested by *Danio rerio*, accompanied with silver ions; adverse effects were increased with the increasing percentage of silver found in the intestines of fish [31]. A mass of studies has demonstrated that N/MPs can play the part of transport vectors for adhesion and accumulation of other coexisting contaminants [31–33]. Compared with MPs, NPs have a larger specific surface and a higher accessibility to cross cell membranes and result in higher risks to organisms according to more researchers [24–28].

#### 1.3 Caenorhabditis elegans

*Caenorhabditis elegans* (*C. elegans*), a free-living nematode often found in soil environments, has been established as model organism for toxicology [34]. This type of nematode is mostly hermaphrodite and self-reproductive and includes a life cycle of about 3 days, which can be divided into eggs, larva (L1, L2, L3, and L4), and adult stages [35, 36]. Germ line in nematode hermaphrodite produces male and female gametes, i.e., sperm and oocytes. Under normal circumstances, a hermaphrodite nematode can produce about 300 offspring [34, 37]. Therefore, nematodes have advantage as model organisms, such as short experimental period, easy reproduction, and convenient observation and operation.

The nematode C. elegans has a simple and well-defined anatomy suitable for toxicology. Normal food, bacteria OP50, accompanied with N/MPs particles can be ingested by the nematode, through the pharynx and transferred into the intestine [34]. Despite simple structures, the nematodes were composed of multiple types of organs, such as muscles, nervous system, gland cells, and so on. Meanwhile, researchers have fully mapped the complete cell lineages in the nematode body. C. elegans contains a total of about 20,000 genes, 40% of which have homology with human genes [38]. Moreover, nematode is the first multicellular animal whose genome has fully revealed. Additionally, C. elegans hermaphrodite has 302 neurons: 282 neurons in the somatic nervous system and 20 neurons in the pharyngeal nervous system [39, 40]. These neurons have different neurotransmitter characteristics, including cholinergic, dopaminergic, GABAergic, etc., which are comparable to higher animals [40]. A number of toxicology indicators including reproductive or developmental toxicity, behavioral toxicity, and neurotoxicity and molecule changes can be assayed, especially basing on various types of transgenic strains. As sensitive to contaminants, the nematode C. elegans is an ideal model organism, especially for NPs toxicology [34].

# 2 Toxicities of (Nano)Microplastics in C. elegans

# 2.1 Developmental and Reproductive Toxicity

#### 2.1.1 Developmental Toxicity

Several studies have investigated effects of NPs or MPs on the nematode *C. elegans* [27, 41–44]. Most of these researchers used different-sized particles or microspheres of PS. For example, Lei et al. exposed nematodes to PS particles with five diameter sizes of 0.1, 0.5, 1.0, 2.0, and 5.0  $\mu$ m, in the same concentration of 1 mg L<sup>-1</sup> and for 48 h [44]. Their results demonstrated the significant inhibition of survival rate after exposure (Fig. 1a). Of five sizes, 1.0  $\mu$ m MPs showed strongest lethality, i.e., an average reduction of 32.27% of survival rate. In another study, nematodes were exposed to PA, PE, PP, PVC, or PS particles on the surface of solid medium, with a



**Fig. 1** Effects of different-sized PS (nano)microplastics (N/MPs) in *C. elegans* after 3-day exposure with concentration of 1 mg  $L^{-1}$  (**a**, survival rate; **b**, body length; **c**, life span) [44]

series concentration of 0.5, 1.0, 5.0, and 10.0 mg L<sup>-1</sup> [27]. Despite no obvious doseeffect relationship, 1.0  $\mu$ m PS particles also caused the biggest reduction of survival rate of nematodes among several sizes of N/MPs. These results indicate that N/MPs can exert size-dependent lethality; 1.0  $\mu$ m PS particles seem to be the most toxic to *C. elegans*. These results imply that 1  $\mu$ m is an appropriate size of N/MPs to be taken in and accumulated in the digestive tract of nematodes.

Similarly, 1.0  $\mu$ m PS particle exposure could induce remarkable decreases in body length of nematodes; however, there were not significant changes in other groups of 0.1, 0.5, 2.0, or 5.0  $\mu$ m MPs (Fig. 1b) [44]. Lei et al. also compared the effects of different polymer types of MPs including PA, PE, PP, PVC, and PS with the same sizes [27]. They found similar toxicity of MPs on nematodes, which included slight lethality and the inhibition on the body length of nematodes. Additionally, the inhibition of nematode life span was demonstrated after exposure to PS particles in five size groups. Among them, 1.0 and 5.0  $\mu$ m PS particle exposure resulted in a noteworthy decrease of average life span (Fig. 1c). In 1.0  $\mu$ m PS-exposed group, nematodes presented the shortest average life span. Collectively, these studies disclosed that the toxicity of N/MPs particles was mainly dependent on the size of MPs instead of their polymer types [27].

#### 2.1.2 Reproductive Toxicity

N/MPs exposure can result in the inhibition of reproduction of nematodes. A study investigated multiple types of N/MPs including PA, PE, PP, PVC, and PS particles on reproductive activity of nematodes [27]. Results showed five common types of MPs that induced the decrease of embryo numbers and brood size (Fig. 2). Of the exposed groups, the PP group had the lowest embryo numbers. Both the embryo numbers and brood size decreased remarkably in PE, PVC, or PS group. The biggest



Fig. 2 Effects of PS N/MPs in *C. elegans* after exposure to 5.0 mg m<sup>-2</sup> different type or size particles for 2 days (**a**, embryo numbers; **b**, brood size) [27]

inhibition rates, 25.22% of embryo number and 28.02% of brood size, were found in PP and PE exposure groups. Reproductive toxicity seems to be associated with both plastic polymer and the sizes of N/MPs.

#### 2.2 Behavioral and Neural Toxicity

#### 2.2.1 Effects of Micro-sized PS Particles on Locomotion Behaviors

According to a recent study, exposure to 1 mg  $L^{-1}$  PS N/MPs could cause obvious changes in locomotion behaviors of the nematodes in a size-dependent manner [44]. For instance, small-sized particles (0.1 and 0.5 µm) induced the increase in the average number of head thrashes and body bends, but microscale particles of 1.0, 2.0, and 5.0 µm PS resulted in decreases of the nematodes' locomotion behavior. Furthermore, crawling movements of the nematodes were demonstrated to significantly change after exposed to PS MPs of different sizes. According to the analysis results of crawling tracks, 0.1 and 2.0 µm PS MPs induced significant increases in mean crawling speed. Moreover, angles of body bending also changed in exposed groups. Body bending angles reflect the coordination and balancing ability. A zero bending angle is an indication of no directional bias, while positive and negative body bending angles mean forward and backward bias. The results showed that 0.1 µm PS particles induced a significant decrease in body bending frequency. These results indicated that N/MPs particles could cause locomotion behavior deficits in the nematodes.

#### 2.2.2 Effects of (Nano)Microplastics on GABAergic, Cholinergic, and Dopaminergic Neurons

Multiple types of neurons, such as GABAergic neurons, cholinergic neurons, and dopaminergic neurons, are in charge of the control of locomotion behavior in the nematode. Recently, two studies revealed the neuronal damages associated with nanopolystyrene particles in *Caenorhabditis elegans* [44, 45]. It indicates that exposure to nano-/micro-sized PS particles could be involved with neurotoxicity, which may be the mechanisms of behavioral toxicity.

In *C. elegans*,  $\gamma$ -aminobutyric acid (GABA) is an important inhibitory neurotransmitter, which plays an important role in motor functions. The effects of exposure to PS particles on GABAergic neurons were assayed by using the transgenic strain EG1285 (*unc-47p::gfp*), in which GABAergic neurons are visualized by the translational expression of *unc-47*. After exposure to 1.0 µm PS particles at concentration of 1 mg/L, the fluorescence intensity was significantly decreased (Fig. 3a–d), indicating the downregulated expression of *unc-47*. However, exposure to PS particles of other sizes had no impacts on the expression of *unc-47*. Besides, Qu et al. found that 100 nm PS-NPs could also induce neurodegeneration of D-type



**Fig. 3** Effects of PS N/MPs on *unc-47::gfp*, *unc-17::gfp*, and *dat-1::gfp* expression in EG1285, LX929, and BZ555 nematodes. The diagrammatic figure of GABAergic neurons (**a**), cholinergic neurons (**e**), and dopaminergic neurons (**i**). Fluorescent images of EG1285 (**b**, **c**), LX929 (**f**, **g**), and BZ555 (**j**, **k**), in the control nematodes and the nematodes exposed to 1 µm PS particles; *unc-47::gfp* (**d**), *unc-17::gfp* (**h**), and *dat-1::gfp* (**l**) expression pattern in control nematodes and nematodes exposed to 0.1, 0.5, 1.0, 2.0, 5.0 µm PS particles for 2 days [44]

GABAergic motor neurons in the nematodes [45]. In *C. elegans*, GABAergic neurons are comprised of RMEs, D-type neurons, RIS, AVL, and DVB. D-type neurons have responsibility for the control of ventral body and dorsal body muscles. REM neurons have control of the head. AVL and DVB control enteric movement. RIS are internuncial neurons. During the locomotion of the worm, D-type neurons suppress the contraction of ventral and dorsal body muscles. When the nematode bends its body, it will contract the muscles on the side of the body and relax the muscles on the other side of the body at the same time, enabling the nematode to keep moving in a wavy way [46–48]. The results showed that the exposure of PS particles can suppress the function of D-type GABAergic neurons. So, the special neurotoxicity may be involved with behavioral damages in crawling movement.

Cholinergic neurons can influence the posterior rhythm during the worm's forward locomotion [49]. Acetylcholine (ACh) is an important neurotransmitter in organisms, which mainly specially distributed widely in the nerve endings at neuromuscular junctions. ACh is synthesized by choline acetyltransferase (ChAT, encoded by *cha-1*) and encapsulated in synaptic vesicles by the vesicular Ach transporter (VAChT, encoded by *unc-17*) [47, 50]. In the transgenic strain LX929, cholinergic neurons can be visualized by the translation expression of green fluorescence protein (GFP) driven by the promoter of cholinergic transporter *unc-17* gene (Fig. 3e, f). After exposure to PS microparticles at the concentration of 1 mg L<sup>-1</sup>, the fluorescence intensity was significantly decreased in the exposed groups [44]. It indicates the downregulated expression of *unc-17* induced by MPs. Broken and atrophied ciliated dendrites can be observed after exposure to PS particles, especially in the groups exposed to 0.5 and 1.0 µm PS particles (Fig. 3f-h). It reveals that PS particles can cause the downregulation of *unc-17* and may prevent ACh from transferring into synaptic vesicles and make the ciliated dendrites



**Fig. 4** Accumulation of 1  $\mu$ m PS particles and intestinal damages induced by MPs exposure. (**a**–**d**) Light field (**a**, **b**) or fluorescence images (**c**, **d**) of the control and the MPs-exposed nematodes; (**e**–**f**) photomicrographs of the intestine of the control and the MPs-exposed nematodes. The red arrows indicate the intestinal damages. The black bar, 200  $\mu$ m; the white bar, 0.6  $\mu$ m

broken and atrophied, causing excitatory activities in nematodes. These results support PS-induced behavior toxicity that exposure to 0.1 and 0.5  $\mu$ m PS particles can induce increases in head thrashes and body.

Dopamine (DA), encoded by *dat-1*, is another important neurotransmitter regulating locomotion behavior in *C. elegans*. The neurons containing DA as the neurotransmitter are called dopaminergic neurons [36, 51]. In a recent study in our laboratory [44], the transgenic strain BZ555 (*dat-1::gfp*) was used to assay the effects of PS particles on the dopaminergic neurons. In BZ555, dopaminergic neurons are labeled by green fluorescent protein, including four cephalic (CEP) neurons, two anterior deirid (ADE) neurons, and two posterior deirid (PDE) neurons (Fig. 4i). However, after 48 h exposure to 0.1, 0.5, 1.0, 2.0, and 5.0  $\mu$ m PS particles, there was no obvious change in expression of *daf-1::gfp* (Fig. 3j–1). It indicates that the N/MPs exert no or slight toxicity on dopaminergic neurons in nematodes.

# 2.3 Intestine Damages

#### 2.3.1 Distribution of PS Nanoplastics in C. elegans

After nematodes were exposed to fluorescently labeled PS particles with sizes of 0.1, 1.0, and 5.0  $\mu$ m, PS particles can be observed distributing in the digestive system, from lumen of pharynx to gut lumen and rectum. Among three sizes of N/MPs, 1.0  $\mu$ m particles have the strongest fluorescence intensity in the body of nematodes. It indicates 1.0  $\mu$ m PS particles can more easily accumulate in the intestine of *C. elegans* (Fig. 4a–d). So, this result supports the strongest toxicity of 1.0  $\mu$ m PS particles, including developmental, reproductive, and neural toxicity. Additionally, we found noticeable damages in the nematode intestine, such as fracture of villi and the rupture of epithelial cells, especially in 1.0  $\mu$ m MPs-exposed group (Fig. 4e–f). We speculate that the accumulated MPs may interact with intestinal epithelial cells through physical or chemical impacts, which further exert intestine damages.

#### 2.3.2 Changes in Intestinal Calcium Levels of C. elegans

According to Lei et al., the potential effects on intestinal calcium levels were observed after exposure to PS particles (0.1, 1.0, 5.0  $\mu$ m) [44]. In the KWN190 strain of *C. elegans*, the calcium indicator protein D3cpv was expressed throughout the cytoplasm of intestinal cells [27]. Results showed that 1.0  $\mu$ m PS particles caused a significant decrease in intestinal calcium levels but no remarkable change in 0.1 and 5.0  $\mu$ m PS groups (Fig. 5). It is consistent with size-dependent toxicity of N/MPs on intestinal damages and implies that in the activity of intestinal calcium, it is involved in the toxic mechanism.

#### 2.4 Oxidative Stress

Oxidative stress reflects an imbalance between the production of free radicals and the ability to readily detoxify their harmful effects through neutralization by antioxidants. Oxidative damages of organisms are generally identified by assay of reactive oxygen species (ROS). The increase of ROS can cause damages in proteins, lipids, or DNA and then induce aging, diseases, or cell death [52]. Glutathione S-transferase (GST-4) is a major cellular detoxification enzyme and participates in oxidative response, which can sensitively reflect the level of oxidative stress [53]. Lei et al. used the transgenic strain CL2166 (*gst-4::gfp*) to assay the level of oxidative stress by fluorescence detection. After exposure to 0.1, 1.0, and 5.0  $\mu$ m PS particles, the expression of *gst-4* was significantly increased in a size-dependent manner [27]. The expression level of *gst-4* in the 1.0  $\mu$ m PS group is higher than those in the other two groups (Fig. 6). Lei et al. also investigated the oxidative stress caused by other



**Fig. 5** Changes in calcium levels in *C. elegans.* (**a**-**c**) Calcium levels in the intestine after exposure to PS particles with different sizes. (**d**) Quantified values of calcium levels and PS particles accumulation in the intestine after PS exposure. Bar =  $200 \mu m$  [27]



**Fig. 6** Effects of MPs particles on the expression of *gst-4::gfp* in CL2166 nematodes of the control nematodes and the nematodes exposed to PA, PE, PP, PVC, and PS (0.1, 1.0, 5.0  $\mu$ m) particles at concentration of 5 mg m<sup>-2</sup>. (**a**, fluorescent images; **b**, expression of *gst-4::gfp*). The bar = 200  $\mu$ m [27]

microplastics including PA, PE, PP, and PVC (in the size of 70  $\mu$ m). The results showed that all of these MPs could cause significant increase in the expression of *gst-4*. It suggests that oxidative stress is a key characteristic of the toxicity of MPs on *C. elegans*.

Furthermore, Lei's study showed that two natural antioxidants, curcumin and oligomeric proanthocyanidins, could decrease the elevated expression of *gst-4* induced by PS particles. Curcumin is extracted from turmeric, a traditional herbal medicine, and used as traditional medicine for curing ulceration and skin infection in

India and other countries. It was reported that curcumin could induce resistances to inflammation, oxidation, or even cancer [54]. Oligomeric proanthocyanidins are extracted from pine or other plants and have been widely used as a strong natural antioxidant [55]. The results indicate that natural antioxidants are capable of alleviating oxidative stress induced by MPs [44].

# **3** Mechanisms of (Nano)Microplastics' Toxicities in *C. elegans*

# 3.1 The Insulin Signaling Pathway

Up to now, a few studies have investigated the potential mechanisms of toxic action between N/MPs and nematodes. According to a recent study, a signal cascade of DAF-2-AGE-1-AKT-1-DAF-16-SOD-3/MTL-1/GPD-2 in the insulin signaling pathway can respond to nanopolystyrene particle exposure in C. elegans [56]. Insulin signaling pathway is involved in numerous life activities, such as aging, reproduction, lipid metabolism, stress response, and so on. The insulin signaling pathway contains the upstream protein DAF-2, an insulin-IGF receptor ortholog, the downstream protein DAF-16, and multiple molecules [57, 58]. Some scholars demonstrated that the depression of DAF-2 pathway can induce a resistance to heat or oxidative stress, in order to protect animals from oxidative damage [59]. Shao et al. found polystyrene NPs could induce an obvious ROS production and the decrease in locomotion behavior in wild-type nematodes [56]. These toxic actions are closely related to the decreased expressions of *daf-2*, *age-1*, and *akt-1* and the increased expression of *daf-16*. Furthermore, the expression of *daf-16* was translocated from the cytoplasm to nuclei. Mutation of daf-2, age-1, or akt-1 could significantly suppress ROS production and behavioral deficits, after the mutant nematodes being exposed to NPs, but the mutation of *daf-16* resulted in a significant increase in ROS production. These results indicate that mutation of daf-2, age-1, or akt-1 can induce a resistance to the toxicity of nanopolystyrene particles but mutation of daf-16 enhances a toxic susceptibility. Moreover, the resistance induced by mutation of daf-2, age-1, or akt-1 can be suppressed by RNAi knockdown of daf-16. Additionally, they found that the intestine-specific activities of DAF-2, AGE-1, AKT-1, and DAF-16 could regulate the toxicity of nanopolystyrene particles in the nematodes. These results indicate that the signaling cascade of DAF-2-AGE-1-AKT-1-DAF-16 in the insulin signaling pathway is involved in a protective response to the toxicity of nanopolystyrene particles.

In another study, researchers detected the expression of *sod-3*, *mtl-1*, and *gpd-2* gene in the intestine of nematodes and found the target gene of *daf-16* specially responded to nanopolystyrene exposure. As a superoxide dismutase, SOD-3 is involved in superoxide radical's removal in order to protect against oxidative stress [60]. MTL-1 is a metallothionein and responsible for metal detoxification and stress

adaption [61], while GPD-2 is a glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase in organisms [62]. After exposure to nanopolystyrene particles, the mutation of *daf-16* could cause significantly decreases in expression of *sod-3*, *mtl-2*, and *gpd-2*; intestine-specific RNAi knockdown of these three genes could result in increase of ROS production. Furthermore, resistance to toxicity of nanopolystyrene in the transgenic strain over pressing *daf-16* could be suppressed by RNAi knockdown of these three genes. Therefore, SOD-3, MTL-1, and GPD-2 are the downstream targets of DAF-16 and play an important role in the protective response to the toxicity of NPs through the insulin signaling pathway.

# 3.2 The Protective Response Mediated by the Intestinal p38 Signaling

Using the model organism nematodes, Qu et al. investigated that a protective response to nanopolystyrene particles. They found the special protective response mediated by p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) signaling pathway, which could activate the endoplasmic reticulum unfolded protein response (UR EPR) [41]. In *C. elegans*, PMK-1 p38 MAPK signaling pathway is responsible for the regulation of oxidative stress response [63]. Stress can induce misfolding and aggregation of proteins, which will disrupt the protein homeostasis and make adverse effects on cellular viability. Eukaryotic cells have evolved specific signaling pathways known as unfolded protein response to protect themselves from proteotoxicity, including heat shock response, endoplasmic reticulum unfolded protein response, and mitochondrial unfolded protein response [64]. So, p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling pathway is an important mechanism that protects nematodes' cells from the toxic action of NPs.

Prolonged exposure to 100 nm nanopolystyrene particles ( $\geq 1 \ \mu g \ L^{-1}$ ) resulted in severe induction of ROS production and decreases in locomotion behavior [41]. In the p38 MAPK signaling pathway, NSY-1-SEK-1-PMK-1 is a classic signaling cascade. Under conditions of NPs exposure, PMK-1 needs to be phosphorylated in order to activate the p38 MAPK signaling. According to a recent study, the expression and phosphorylation level of *pmk-1* was significantly increased in nematodes after prolonged exposure to 100 nm nanopolystyrene particles at the predicted environmentally relevant concentration (1  $\mu g L^{-1}$ ). In addition, elevated toxicity susceptibility to nanopolystyrene was proved in *pmk-1(km25)* mutant nematodes. Though PMK-1 can be expressed in neurons and intestine cells, only mutation of intestine-specific PMK-1 can suppress the susceptibility of NPs-induced toxicity. It indicates that intestinal PMK-1 is the regulator of the response to nanopolystyrene particles in C. elegans. Exposure to 100 nm polystyrene particles (1  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup>) can also induce the increased expression of *atf-7* and *skn-1*; both genes are considered as the downstream targets of PMK-1. In pmk-1(km25) mutant nematodes, the NPs-induced expression of *atf-7* and *skn-1* can be significantly decreased; intestine-specific RNAi

knockdown of *atf-7* or *skn-6* can increase ROS production. When PMK-1 in the intestine of nematodes was overexpressed, the nematodes can obtain a resistance to the toxicity to NPs. RNAi knockdown of *atf-7* or *skn-1* can also suppress the resistance to NPs. These results indicate that *atf-7* and *skn-1* are downstream of *pmk-1* in the response to nanopolystyrene particles. Collectively, current studies suggest that the intestinal signaling cascade of PMK-1-ATF-7-XBP-1 and PMK-1-SKN-1-XBP-1/GST-5 can regulate the responses to nanopolystyrene particles in *C. elegans*. It may be a pivotal mechanism involved in biota's response to N/MPs; however it needs more research in higher animals.

# 3.3 Other Mechanisms

In recent years, several studies on the behavioral and neural toxicities of N/MPs to nematode C. elegans have been done. All these studies show that exposure to PS N/MPs can induce changes in locomotion behaviors and neuronal damages [44], but only a part of the mechanism of the neurotoxicity of N/MPs has been revealed. Qu et al. found that there is an association between the neurotoxicity of PS-NPs and changes in autophagy induction in nematodes [45]. Autophagy is a pathway for intracellular macromolecules degradation, which can be activated by toxicants and have the capacity to protect organism against neurotoxicity [65, 66]. Since lgg-1 is a key regulator of autophagy [67], Qu et al. used LGG-1::GFP as the marker to investigate the effects of NPs on autophagy. The results showed that exposure to PS-NPs (1,000  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup>) could induce a decrease in autophagy induction and could result in behavioral deficits and damages in D-type GABAergic motor neurons at the same time. Moreover, RNAi knockdown of *lgg-1* could induce a susceptibility to the neurotoxicity of PS-NPs on the development and function of D-type GABAergic motor neurons. These results imply that the damages on D-type neurons induced by exposure to PS-NPs are related with the decrease in autophagy induction.

The molecular response to nanoplastics still remains largely unknown in organisms. Qu et al. employed *C. elegans* exposed to PS-NP (100 nm, 1 µg L<sup>-1</sup>) to investigate the long noncoding RNAs (lncRNAs). They found that 37 lncRNAs were dysregulated, among which 22 lncRNAs were downregulated and 15 lncRNAs were upregulated [68]. Focused on the known lncRNAs (downregulated *linc-7*, *linc-50*, and *linc-169*; upregulated *linc-2*, *linc-9*, *linc-18*, *linc-32*, and *linc-61*), they examined their dynamic expression in PS-NP. Both the decreasing expression of *linc-7*, *linc-50*, and *linc-169* and increasing expression of *linc-2*, *linc-9*, *linc-18*, *linc-32*, and *linc-61* were dose-dependent in nematodes exposed to PS-NP (1–100 µg L<sup>-1</sup>). Moreover, with intestinal reactive oxygen species (ROS) production and locomotion behavior sited as the endpoints, they conducted the effects of RNA interference (RNAi) knockdown of *linc-2*, *linc-7*, *linc-9*, *linc-18*, *linc-32*, *linc-50*, *linc-61*, and *linc-169* in nematodes. In results, the RNAi knockdown of *linc-2*, *linc-7*, *linc-9*, *linc-18*, *linc-32*, *linc-50*, *linc-61*, and *linc-169* in nematodes without PS-NP exposure did not induce the obvious intestinal ROS production and locomotion behavior; however, compared with nanopolystyrene-exposed wild-type nematodes, nanopolystyrene-exposed *linc-2*, *linc-9*, or *linc-61* (all RNAi) nematodes were observed with the more severe ROS production and decreasing locomotion behavior; nanopolystyrene-exposed *linc-18* or *linc-50* (all RNAi) nematodes were observed with the inhibition of ROS production and increase of locomotion behavior. Among these five studied lncRNAs, *linc-2*, *linc-9*, *linc-50*, and *linc-61* alterations mediated a protective response to PS-NP, and the alteration of *linc-18* possibly mediated the toxicity of PS-NP, which is suggested by a further study associated with their biological processes and signaling pathways.

Qu et al. also observed the response of microRNAs (miRNAs) to PS-NP (100 nm, 1  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup>) [69]. After exposure, seven miRNAs were dysregulated by PS-NP (*mir*-39. mir-76. mir-794, and mir-1830 downregulated; mir-35, mir-38, and mir-354 upregulated). According to the phenotypic analysis of both transgenic strains and mutant nematodes, mir-35, mir-38, mir-76, mir-354, and mir-794 were found to be involved in the response to PS-NP. The expression of all these seven miRNAs above was dose-dependent in nematodes exposed to PS-NP (1–100  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup>). The previous study on the function of insulin signaling pathway has shown its response in PS-NP, and meanwhile the KEGG analysis suggested that *mir-794* could medicate in the insulin signaling pathway, which also reveals a possible molecular response pathway candidated by mir-794 and insulin signaling. Additionally, mir-35, mir-38, and mir-354 may influence the Wnt signaling pathway, a related pathway of controlling toxicity induction of several environmental toxicants such as graphene oxide [70]. In particular, overexpression of mir-354 could decrease the expression of cwn-1 which encodes a Wnt ligand. These results confirmed that *mir-354* could be an intervent to the function of Wnt signaling pathway in response to PS-NP in nematodes.

#### 4 Summary

In this chapter, we have reviewed research progress in the toxicology of N/MPs using the model nematode *C. elegans*. Several studies have revealed that both NPs and MPs can cause multiple toxicity including lethality, reproductive and developmental toxicity, alteration of locomotion behavior, neurotoxicity, intestine damages, and ROS production in nematodes. These effects on nematodes were obviously both dose-dependent and size-dependent with (nano)microplastics. PS-MPs in the concentration ranging from 1  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup> to 100  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup> could induce multiple adverse effects [42, 56]. According to these studies, similar-sized MPs in different polymer types (PA, PP, PE, and PVC) showed nearly same toxicity in *C. elegans* [27, 44]. It indicates that the toxicity of MPs is closely dependent on their size, rather than their composition.

Up to date, the majority of researchers used pure PS spheres to carry out toxicology studies of NPs. However, the real environment includes various types of MPs or NPs in different chemical compositions or different shapes. Furthermore, environmental (nano)microplastics contain a variety of additives and other absorbed pollutants such as hydrophobic organic chemicals [71]. Therefore, future toxicology researches need to focus on real environment-character N/MPs in the environmental relevant concentration level. Additionally, more studies need to reveal the toxic action mechanisms of MPs, especially about NPs' toxicity and its cellular or molecular pathway.

Acknowledgments The authors gratefully acknowledge the financial support by the National Science and Technology Major Project for Water Pollution Control and Treatment (No.2018ZX07208008) and the National Key Research and Development of China (No. 2016YFC1402204 and No. 2018YFC1901004).

## References

- 1. da Costa JP (2018) Micro- and nanoplastics in the environment: research and policymaking. Curr Opin Environ Sci Health 1:12–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coesh.2017.11.002
- Koelmans AA, Besseling E, Shim WJ (2015) Nanoplastics in the aquatic environment. Critical review. In: Bergmann M, Gutow L, Klages M (eds) Marine anthropogenic litter. Springer, Cham, pp 325–340. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-16510-3\_12
- Browne MA, Galloway T, Thompson R (2010) Microplastic--an emerging contaminant of potential concern? Integr Environ Assess Manag 3(4):559–561. https://doi.org/10.1002/ieam. 5630030412
- da Costa JP, Santos PSM, Duarte AC, Rocha-Santos T (2016) (Nano)plastics in the environment - sources, fates and effects. Sci Total Environ 566–567:15–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. scitotenv.2016.05.041
- ter Halle A, Ladirat L, Gendre X, Goudouneche D, Pusineri C, Routaboul C, Tenailleau C, Duployer B, Perez E (2016) Understanding the fragmentation pattern of marine plastic debris. Environ Sci Technol 50(11):5668–5675. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.6b00594
- 6. Gigault J, Halle AT, Baudrimont M, Pascal PY, Gauffre F, Phi TL, El Hadri H, Grassl B, Reynaud S (2018) Current opinion: what is a nanoplastic? Environ Pollut 235:1030–1034. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2018.01.024
- Rios Mendoza LM, Karapanagioti H, Álvarez NR (2018) Micro(nanoplastics) in the marine environment: current knowledge and gaps. Curr Opin Environ Sci Health 1:47–51. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.coesh.2017.11.004
- Canesi L, Ciacci C, Fabbri R, Balbi T, Salis A, Damonte G, Cortese K, Caratto V, Monopoli MP, Dawson K (2016) Interactions of cationic polystyrene nanoparticles with marine bivalve hemocytes in a physiological environment: role of soluble hemolymph proteins. Environ Res 150:73–81. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2016.05.045
- Lambert S, Sinclair CJ, Bradley EL, Boxall A (2013) Effects of environmental conditions on latex degradation in aquatic systems. Sci Total Environ 447(1):225–234. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.scitotenv.2012.12.067
- Ng EL, Huerta Lwanga E, Eldridge SM, Johnston P, Hu HW, Geissen V, Chen D (2018) An overview of microplastic and nanoplastic pollution in agroecosystems. Sci Total Environ 627:1377–1388. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.01.341
- 11. Lv W, Zhou W, Lu S, Huang W, Yuan Q, Tian M, Lv W, He D (2019) Microplastic pollution in rice-fish co-culture system: a report of three farmland stations in Shanghai, China. Sci Total Environ 652:1209–1218. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.10.321
- Song Y, Cao CJ, Qiu R, Hu JN, Liu MT, Lu SB, Shi HH, Raley-Susman KM, He DF (2019) Uptake and adverse effects of polyethylene terephthalate microplastics fibers on terrestrial snails (Achatina fulica) after soil exposure. Environ Pollut 250:447–455. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.envpol.2019.04.066

- Dawson AL, Kawaguchi S, King CK, Townsend KA, King R, Huston WM, Bengtson Nash SM (2018) Turning microplastics into nanoplastics through digestive fragmentation by Antarctic krill. Nat Commun 9(1):1001. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-03465-9
- Van Cauwenberghe L, Devriese L, Galgani F, Robbens J, Janssen CR (2015) Microplastics in sediments: a review of techniques, occurrence and effects. Mar Environ Res 111:5–17. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.marenvres.2015.06.007
- Schwaferts C, Niessner R, Elsner M, Ivleva NP (2019) Methods for the analysis of submicrometer- and nanoplastic particles in the environment. TrAC Trends Anal Chem 112:52–65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trac.2018.12.014
- 16. Liu M, Song Y, Lu S, Qiu R, Hu J, Li X, Bigalke M, Shi H, He D (2019) A method for extracting soil microplastics through circulation of sodium bromide solutions. Sci Total Environ 691:341–347. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.07.144
- 17. Liu M, Lu S, Song Y, Lei L, Hu J, Lv W, Zhou W, Cao C, Shi H, Yang X, He D (2018) Microplastic and mesoplastic pollution in farmland soils in suburbs of Shanghai, China. Environ Pollut 242:855–862. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2018.07.051
- He D, Luo Y, Lu S, Liu M, Song Y, Lei L (2018) Microplastics in soils: analytical methods, pollution characteristics and ecological risks. TrAC Trends Anal Chem 109:163–172. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.trac.2018.10.006
- Lenz R, Enders K, Nielsen TG (2016) Microplastic exposure studies should be environmentally realistic. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 113(29):E4121–E4122. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas. 1606615113
- Hurley RR, Nizzetto L (2018) Fate and occurrence of micro(nano)plastics in soils: knowledge gaps and possible risks. Curr Opin Environ Sci Health 1:6–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coesh. 2017.10.006
- Eriksen M, Lebreton LC, Carson HS, Thiel M, Moore CJ, Borerro JC, Galgani F, Ryan PG, Reisser J (2014) Plastic pollution in the world's oceans: more than 5 trillion plastic pieces weighing over 250,000 tons afloat at sea. PLoS One 9(12):e111913. https://doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pone.0111913
- 22. Liu Z, Yu P, Cai M, Wu D, Zhang M, Huang Y, Zhao Y (2019) Polystyrene nanoplastic exposure induces immobilization, reproduction, and stress defense in the freshwater cladoceran Daphnia pulex. Chemosphere 215:74–81. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2018.09.176
- Cole M, Galloway TS (2015) Ingestion of nanoplastics and microplastics by Pacific oyster larvae. Environ Sci Technol 49(24):14625–14632. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.5b04099
- Sjollema SB, Redondo-Hasselerharm P, Leslie HA, Kraak MHS, Vethaak AD (2016) Do plastic particles affect microalgal photosynthesis and growth? Aquat Toxicol 170:259–261. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2015.12.002
- 25. Hamer J, Gutow L, Kohler A, Saborowski R (2014) Fate of microplastics in the marine lsopod Idotea emarginata. Environ Sci Technol 48(22):13451–13458. https://doi.org/10.1021/ es501385y
- 26. Chua EM, Shimeta J, Nugegoda D, Morrison PD, Clarke BO (2014) Assimilation of Polybrominated diphenyl ethers from microplastics by the marine amphipod, Allorchestes Compressa. Environ Sci Technol 48(14):8127–8134. https://doi.org/10.1021/es405717z
- 27. Lei L, Wu S, Lu S, Liu M, Song Y, Fu Z, Shi H, Raley-Susman KM, He D (2018) Microplastic particles cause intestinal damage and other adverse effects in zebrafish Danio rerio and nematode Caenorhabditis elegans. Sci Total Environ 619-620:1–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. scitotenv.2017.11.103
- 28. Jeong CB, Won EJ, Kang HM, Lee MC, Hwang DS, Hwang UK, Zhou B, Souissi S, Lee SJ, Lee JS (2016) Microplastic size-dependent toxicity, oxidative stress induction, and p-JNK and p-p38 activation in the Monogonont rotifer (Brachionus koreanus). Environ Sci Technol 50 (16):8849–8857. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.6b01441
- 29. Lu YF, Zhang Y, Deng YF, Jiang W, Zhao YP, Geng JJ, Ding LL, Ren HQ (2016) Uptake and accumulation of polystyrene microplastics in zebrafish (Danio rerio) and toxic effects in liver. Environ Sci Technol 50(7):4054–4060. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.6b00183

- 30. Besseling E, Wegner A, Foekema EM, van den Heuvel-Greve MJ, Koelmans AA (2013) Effects of microplastic on fitness and PCB bioaccumulation by the lugworm Arenicola marina (L.). Environ Sci Technol 47(1):593–600. https://doi.org/10.1021/es302763x
- Khan FR, Syberg K, Shashoua Y, Bury NR (2015) Influence of polyethylene microplastic beads on the uptake and localization of silver in zebrafish (Danio rerio). Environ Pollut 206:73–79. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2015.06.009
- 32. Khan FR, Boyle D, Chang E, Bury NR (2017) Do polyethylene microplastic beads alter the intestinal uptake of Ag in rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss)? Analysis of the MP vector effect using in vitro gut sacs. Environ Pollut 231:200–206. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol. 2017.08.019
- 33. Sleight VA, Bakir A, Thompson RC, Henry TB (2017) Assessment of microplastic-sorbed contaminant bioavailability through analysis of biomarker gene expression in larval zebrafish. Mar Pollut Bull 116(1–2):291–297. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2016.12.055
- 34. Edgar L (1998) C. Elegans II. Donald L. Riddle, Thomas Blumenthal, Barbara J. Meyer, James R. Priess. Q Rev Biol 73(1):81–81. https://doi.org/10.1086/420102
- 35. Larsen PL, Riddle DL (1997) Model organisms: post-mitotic life extension in C-elegans. FASEB J 11(9):A1289–A1289
- 36. WormBase. www.wormbase.org
- Hodgkin J (1999) The nematode Caenorhabditis elegans as a model organism. J Med Genet 36: S33–S33
- Consortium CeS (1998) Genome sequence of the nematode C-elegans: a platform for investigating biology. Science 282(5396):2012–2018. https://doi.org/10.1093/glycob/cwi075
- 39. Xu T, Zhang M, Hu J, Li Z, Wu T, Bao J, Wu S, Lei L, He D (2017) Behavioral deficits and neural damage of Caenorhabditis elegans induced by three rare earth elements. Chemosphere 181:55–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2017.04.068
- 40. Xu T, Li P, Wu S, Lei L, He D (2017) Tris(2-chloroethyl) phosphate (TCEP) and tris (2-chloropropyl) phosphate (TCPP) induce locomotor deficits and dopaminergic degeneration in Caenorhabditis elegans. Toxicol Res (Camb) 6(1):63–72. https://doi.org/10.1039/ c6tx00306k
- Qu M, Liu Y, Xu K, Wang D (2019) Activation of p38 MAPK signaling-mediated endoplasmic reticulum unfolded protein response by Nanopolystyrene particles. Adv Biosyst 3(4):1800325. https://doi.org/10.1002/adbi.201800325
- 42. Zhao L, Qu M, Wong G, Wang D (2017) Transgenerational toxicity of nanopolystyrene particles in the range of μg L-1 in the nematode Caenorhabditis elegans. Environ Sci Nano 4 (12):2356–2366. https://doi.org/10.1039/c7en00707h
- Qu M, Xu K, Li Y, Wong G, Wang D (2018) Using acs-22 mutant Caenorhabditis elegans to detect the toxicity of nanopolystyrene particles. Sci Total Environ 643:119–126. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.06.173
- 44. Lei L, Liu M, Song Y, Lu S, Hu J, Cao C, Xie B, Shi H, He D (2018) Polystyrene (nano) microplastics cause size-dependent neurotoxicity, oxidative damage and other adverse effects in Caenorhabditis elegans. Environ Sci Nano 5:2009. https://doi.org/10.1039/C8EN00412A
- 45. Qu M, Kong Y, Yuan Y, Wang D (2019) Neuronal damage induced by nanopolystyrene particles in nematode Caenorhabditis elegans. Environ Sci Nano 6(8):2591–2601. https://doi. org/10.1039/C9EN00473D
- 46. McIntire SL, Jorgensen E, Kaplan J, Horvitz HR (1993) The GABAergic nervous system of Caenorhabditis elegans. Nature 364(6435):337–341. https://doi.org/10.1038/364337a0
- Thomas JH (1990) Genetic analysis of defecation in Caenorhabditis elegans. Genetics 124 (4):855–872
- 48. White JG, Southgate E, Thomson JN, Brenner S (1986) The structure of the nervous system of the nematode Caenorhabditis elegans. Philos Trans R Soc Lond Ser B Biol Sci 314 (1165):1–340. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.1986.0056

- 49. Fouad AD, Teng S, Mark JR, Liu A, Ji H, Cornblath E, Guan A, Mei Z, Fangyen C (2017) Distributed rhythm generators underlie Caenorhabditis elegans forward locomotion. eLife 7: e29913. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.29913
- Mathews EA, Mullen GP, Manjarrez JR, Rand JB (2015) Unusual regulation of splicing of the cholinergic locus in Caenorhabditis elegans. Genetics 199(3):729–737. https://doi.org/10.1534/ genetics.114.173765
- 51. Siyu W, Lili L, Yang S, Mengting L, Shibo L, Dan L, Yonghong S, Zhibin W, Defu H (2018) Mutation of hop-1 and pink-1 attenuates vulnerability of neurotoxicity in C. elegans: the role of mitochondria-associated membrane proteins in Parkinsonism. Exp Neurol 309:67–78. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.expneurol.2018.07.018
- 52. Finkel T, Holbrook NJ (2000) Oxidants, oxidative stress and the biology of ageing. Nature 408 (6809):239–247. https://doi.org/10.1038/35041687
- Hasegawa K, Miwa S, Isomura K, Tsutsumiuchi K, Taniguchi H, Miwa J (2008) Acrylamideresponsive genes in the nematode Caenorhabditis elegans. Toxicol Sci 101(2):215–225. https:// doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfm276
- 54. Yu CW, Wei CC, Liao VHC (2014) Curcumin-mediated oxidative stress resistance in Caenorhabditis elegans is modulated by age-1, akt-1, pdk-1, osr-1, unc-43, sek-1, skn-1, sir-2.1, and mev-1. Free Radic Res 48(3):371–379. https://doi.org/10.3109/10715762.2013. 872779
- 55. Furumura M, Sato N, Kusaba N, Takagaki K, Nakayama J (2012) Oral administration of French maritime pine bark extract (Flavangenol (R)) improves clinical symptoms in photoaged facial skin. Clin Interv Aging 7:275–285. https://doi.org/10.2147/Cia.S33165
- 56. Shao HM, Han ZY, Krasteva N, Wang DY (2019) Identification of signaling cascade in the insulin signaling pathway in response to nanopolystyrene particles. Nanotoxicology 13 (2):174–188. https://doi.org/10.1080/17435390.2018.1530395
- 57. Kenyon CJ (2010) The genetics of ageing. Nature 464(7288):504–512. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nature08980
- Kimura KD, Tissenbaum HA, Liu YX, Ruvkun G (1997) daf-2, an insulin receptor-like gene that regulates longevity and diapause in Caenorhabditis elegans. Science 277(5328):942–946. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.277.5328.942
- Murphy CT, McCarroll SA, Bargmann CI, Fraser A, Kamath RS, Ahringer J, Li H, Kenyon C (2003) Genes that act downstream of DAF-16 to influence the lifespan of Caenorhabditis elegans. Nature 424(6946):277–284. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature01789
- Hunter T, Bannister WH, Hunter GJ (1997) Cloning, expression, and characterization of two manganese superoxide dismutases from Caenorhabditis elegans. J Biol Chem 272 (45):28652–28659. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.272.45.28652
- Hughes S, Sturzenbaum SR (2007) Single and double metallothionein knockout in the nematode C. elegans reveals cadmium dependent and independent toxic effects on life history traits. Environ Pollut 145(2):395–400. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2006.06.003
- 62. Huang XY, Barrios LAM, Vonkhorporn P, Honda S, Albertson DG, Hecht RM (1989) Genomic organization of the glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase gene family of Caenorhabditis elegans. J Mol Biol 206(3):411–424
- Inoue H, Hisamoto N, An JH, Oliveira RP, Nishida E, Blackwell TK, Matsumoto K (2005) The C. elegans p38 MAPK pathway regulates nuclear localization of the transcription factor SKN-1 in oxidative stress response. Genes Dev 19(19):2278–2283. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad. 1324805
- 64. Martínez G, Duran-Aniotz C, Cabral-Miranda F, Hetz C (2016) Commentary: XBP-1 is a cellnonautonomous regulator of stress resistance and longevity. Front Aging Neurosci 8:182. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnagi.2016.00182
- 65. Song CJ, Charli A, Luo J, Riaz Z, Jin HJ, Anantharam V, Kanthasamy A, Kanthasamy AG (2019) Mechanistic interplay between autophagy and apoptotic signaling in Endosulfaninduced dopaminergic neurotoxicity: relevance to the adverse outcome pathway in pesticide neurotoxicity. Toxicol Sci 169(2):333–352. https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfz049

- 66. Srivastava A, Kumar V, Pandey A, Jahan S, Kumar D, Rajpurohit CS, Singh S, Khanna VK, Pant AB (2017) Adoptive autophagy activation: a much-needed remedy against chemical induced neurotoxicity/developmental neurotoxicity. Mol Neurobiol 54(3):1797–1807. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s12035-016-9778-5
- 67. Alberti A, Michelet X, Djeddi A, Legouis R (2010) The autophagosomal protein LGG-2 acts synergistically with LGG-1 in dauer formation and longevity in C. elegans. Autophagy 6 (5):622–633. https://doi.org/10.4161/auto.6.5.12252
- 68. Qu M, Zhao Y, Zhao Y, Rui Q, Kong Y, Wang D (2019) Identification of long non-coding RNAs in response to nanopolystyrene in Caenorhabditis elegans after long-term and low-dose exposure. Environ Pollut 255(Pt 1):113137. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2019.113137
- 69. Qu M, Luo L, Yang Y, Kong Y, Wang D (2019) Nanopolystyrene-induced microRNAs response in Caenorhabditis elegans after long-term and lose-dose exposure. Sci Total Environ 697:134131. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.134131
- 70. Zhi LT, Qu M, Ren MX, Zhao L, Li YH, Wang DY (2017) Graphene oxide induces canonical Wnt/beta-catenin signaling-dependent toxicity in Caenorhabditis elegans. Carbon 113:122–131. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.carbon.2016.11.041
- Hartmann NB, Rist S, Bodin J, Jensen LHS, Schmidt SN, Mayer P, Meibom A, Baun A (2017) Microplastics as vectors for environmental contaminants: exploring sorption, desorption, and transfer to biota. Integr Environ Assess 13(3):488–493. https://doi.org/10.1002/ieam.1904